#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JIM SMITH, PROPERTY APPRAISER, PINELLAS COUNTY, FLORIDA, AND JAMES ZINGALE AS THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR OF THE DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE, STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioners,

vs.

Case No. SC05-488

Second District Court of Appeal Case No. 2D04-514

STEPHEN KROSSCHELL,

Respondent.

L.T. Case No. 01-9288-CI-21

#### PETITIONERS' JOINT INITIAL BRIEF

Christina M. LeBlanc Assistant County Attorney Fla. Bar No. 0548669 Pinellas County Attorney's Office 315 Court Street Clearwater, FL 33756 Tel: (727) 464-3354 Fax: (727) 464-4147

Attorney for Jim Smith, Property Appraiser, Pinellas County, Florida CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The Appellants below and the Petitioners in this Court are Jim Smith, Pinellas County Property Appraiser and Jim Zingale as the Executive Director of the State of Florida, Department of Revenue. Collectively, they will be referred to as "the Petitioners" in the Joint Initial Brief. Individually, they will be referred to as "the Property Appraiser" and "the Department," respectively.

The Appellee below and the Respondent in this Court is Stephen Krosschell. He will be referred to as "Krosschell" or "Respondent" in the Joint Initial Brief.

The court below was the Second District Court of Appeal. It will be referred to as "the Second District" in the Joint Initial Brief.

The trial court was the Sixth Judicial Circuit, in and for Pinellas County, Florida. It will be referred to as "the trial court" in the Joint Initial Brief.

References to the record on appeal will be prefixed with the letter R., which will be followed by the appropriate page number, e.g., R. 82-83.

References to the Appendix to the Initial Brief will be prefixed with the letters App, followed by the appropriate appendix number and page number, e.g., App. 1, at 4.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On December 11, 2001, Krosschell, filed a complaint in circuit court against the Property Appraiser and the Department, challenging the year 2000 ad valorem tax assessment against his home located in Pinellas County. R. 1-3. The Complaint requested that the trial court "declare that the year 2000 assessed value for the Plaintiff's property is correct and that the year 2001 assessed value cannot be increased by more than 3%." R. 2. On December 28, 2001, the Property Appraiser filed its Answer to the Complaint, which was adopted by the Department. R. 4-5.

Krosschell filed a Motion for Summary Judgment on December 10, 2002. R. 6-7. The Petitioners filed a Cross Motion for Summary Judgment on January 9, 2003. R. 8. Following a hearing on both motions, the trial court entered a Final Judgment and Order granting Krosschell's Motion for Summary Judgment and Denying the Motion of the Petitioners on April 7, 2003. R. 82. On April 17, 2003 the Property Appraiser filed a Motion for Rehearing pursuant to Florida Rules of Civil Procedure 1.530. R. 84-88. The Motion for Rehearing was denied by Order dated January 29, 2004. R. 96. As this motion tolled the rendition of the Final Judgment and Order, the Property Appraiser timely filed its Notice of Appeal of the Final Judgment and Order on February 3, 2004. R. 98-103.

On appeal, the Second District affirmed the trial court and certified conflict with Kornfield, infra. App. 1, at 4.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Krosschell purchased the subject property on November 9, 1999 for \$357,500. R. 25. He applied for and was granted a homestead exemption for the year 2000. R. 25. Therefore, by operation of section 193.155, Florida Statutes, the year 2000 assessment was to be set at just value. The 2000 ad valorem tax assessment became the base year for purposes of calculating assessments for subsequent tax years under Article VII, section 4, Florida Constitution, subject to the limitation upon annual increases commonly referred to as the Save-Our-Homes (SOH) cap.

On March 23, 2000, a field inspection of the property was conducted by the Property Appraiser's office to verify the information contained in the Property Appraiser's records. R. 25-26. When the database record for the property was updated following the field inspection, a clerical data entry error occurred which caused all 3,746 square feet of base living area to be deleted from the Property Appraiser's records for this property. R. 26. This administrative error caused the property to be undervalued by \$100,100, resulting in a valuation of \$188,700, rather than the correct and just valuation of \$288,800. R. 26.

The just value, sales, and building base size history for this parcel were as follows:

	Year	Just Valu	e Sales Price	Base	Size	9
a.	1994	\$215,600		3746	sq.	ft.
b.	1995	\$211,500	\$232,800	3746	sq.	ft.
c.	1996	\$225,500		3746	sq.	ft.
d.	1997	\$223,700		3746	sq.	ft.
e.	1998	\$225,200		3746	sq.	ft.
f.	1999	\$223,100	\$357,500	3746	sq.	ft.
g.	2000	\$188,700	(incorrect)	0	sq.	ft.
		\$288,800	(corrected)	3746	sq.	ft.
h.	2001	\$307,600		3746	sq.	ft.

In August of 2000, Krosschell was sent the Notice of Proposed Property Taxes for the year 2000, otherwise known as the TRIM notice. R. 38. The TRIM notice showed that the assessed value of the property was \$188,700, a substantial drop in value from the previous year's assessment of \$223,100. R. 57. The Property Appraiser certified the 2000 tax roll, including this erroneous valuation, on October 13, 2000. R. 26. On November 10, 2000, after the clerical error resulting in the deletion of the entire square footage of living area from the property records was discovered, the Property Appraiser issued a Certificate of Correction of Tax Roll and the Tax Collector of Pinellas County (hereinafter "the Tax Collector"), issued a corrected tax bill without consulting Krosschell. R. 26. This correction was made while the 2000 tax roll was open for collection. R. 27.

On December 20, 2000, after Krosschell complained about his corrected tax bill, the Property Appraiser sent him a letter explaining the discovery of the data entry error made on the base area of his home, and the Property Appraiser's legal duty to place the overlooked value on the tax roll. R. 62. The letter further notified Krosschell that correction of the clerical error would increase the assessed value by \$100,100 in the year 2000. R. 62. Finally, the letter notified Krosschell of his options with regard to the increase, including the option to consent to the increase and waive the right to petition the Value Adjustment Board (hereinafter "VAB"), or to express the wish to petition the increased assessed value for the year 2000 to the 2001 VAB. R. 62-63. (These options are required by Florida Administrative Code Rule 12D-8.021(10)).

Krosschell elected to contest the year 2000 ad valorem tax assessment increase by submitting a petition to the VAB. R. 63. This option clearly stated that the year 2000 correction would be placed on the 2001 tax roll. R. 27, 64. As Krosschell elected to petition to the 2001 VAB, the Property Appraiser directed the Tax Collector of Pinellas County to reinstate the original value for the year 2000, which omitted the square footage. R. 27.

The reinstatement of the \$188,700 valuation was not an acknowledgment by the Property Appraiser that the erroneous valuation was proper. Rather, pursuant to Florida Administrative Code Rule 12D-8.021, the correction was delayed until Krosschell's petition to the 2001 VAB could be heard and decided. R. 27. It was not possible to bring the increase before the 2000 VAB, because it had adjourned on October 10, 2000. R. 26.

Subsequent to this Court's decision in <u>Smith v. Welton</u>, <u>infra</u>, the Legislature addressed the deficiencies of section 193.155(8)(a), Florida Statutes (1995), as pointed out by this Court and amended the statute in the 2001 regular session to state as follows:

Property receiving the homestead exemption after January 1, 1994, shall be assessed at just value as of January 1 of the year in which the property receives the exemption. Thereafter, determination of the assessed value of the property is subject to the following provisions:

\* \* \*

(8) Erroneous assessments of homestead property assessed under this section may be corrected in the following manner:

(a) If errors are made in arriving at any annual assessment under this section due to a material mistake of fact concerning an essential characteristic of the property, the just value and assessed value assessment must be recalculated for every such year, including the year in which the mistake occurred.

<u>See</u> Chapter 2001-137, section 5, p. 1128, 1130, Laws of Florida. This amendment became effective on July 1, 2001. <u>See</u> Chapter 2001-137, section 12, p. 1135, Laws of Florida.

On July 10, 2001, the Property Appraiser presented the corrected year 2000 value for the subject parcel to the 2001 R. 27. On August 6, 2001, the Property Appraiser mailed VAB. to Krosschell his year 2001 Notice of Proposed Property Taxes, which included the corrected just and assessed values of \$288,800 for the year 2000, and a just (market) value of \$307,600 and assessed value of \$297,400 for the year 2001. R. 27, 37. On August 31, 2001, Krosschell filed an appeal for his year 2000 and 2001 values to the 2001 VAB. R. 27. The VAB determined that the Property Appraiser had acted correctly when he made his corrections to the assessment of the subject property. R. 27. Following the VAB's ruling, Krosschell timely filed his complaint with the trial court challenging the assessment. R. 1-3.

Krosschell has never disputed 1) that the correction resulted from a clerical error, or 2) the fact that the base area of the property is indeed 3,746 square feet. The only basis for Krosschell's challenge was that the corrected assessment for the year 2000 exceeded the SOH cap and that the base year just value for 2000 was correct.

Mr. Krosschell's position would require this Court to endorse and preserve his tax "windfall." Respondent wants to take advantage of the clerical error to lock in an artificially low base year assessment, which will result in a situation where each subsequent year's assessment will also be artificially low. Because of the SOH cap, the Property Appraiser will never be able to raise the taxable valuation of Plaintiff's home to the level where it would have been if no clerical error had been made. Thus, Mr. Krosschell will pass a portion of his lawful tax burden to the other taxpayers in Pinellas County.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Both the Third District Court of Appeal and the Second District have rendered opinions on section 193.155(8)(a), Florida Statutes (2001). The Third District found that the 2001 amendment to this statute, is retroactive and allows for just value and/or assessed values, that are based upon material mistakes of fact, to be recalculated for each year affected, even if the mistake occurred in the base year. However, the Second District found that the 2001 amendment to section 193.155(8)(a), did not apply.

Under section 193.155(8)(a), Florida Statutes, as amended in 2001, a property appraiser is statutorily required to correct erroneous assessments back to, and including, the year in which the material mistake of fact occurred. This language is clear, unambiguous and manifests the Legislature's intent to be retroactive as the legislative response to this Court's decision in Smith v. Welton, 729 So. 2d 371 (Fla. 1999).

This Court has the jurisdiction to decide which interpretation of section 193.155(8)(a), Florida Statutes (2001), is correct. This Court should provide guidance to the Property Appraisers of the State of Florida so that they will know how to apply this law when errors do occur. Petitioners request that this Court approve the Third District's decision in <u>Kornfield</u>, <u>infra</u>, and disapprove the Second District's decision below.

#### ARGUMENT

I. THIS COURT HAS THE JURISDICTION TO RESOLVE THE EXPRESS AND DIRECT CONFLICT BETWEEN THE SECOND AND THIRD DISTRICT COURTS OF APPEAL ON THE SAME QUESTION OF LAW In its decision below, the Second District certified conflict with a decision of the Third District Court of Appeal in <u>Robbins v. Kornfield</u>, 834 So. 2d 955 (Fla.  $3^{rd}$  DCA 2003), <u>appeal voluntarily dismissed</u>, 868 So. 2d 523 (Fla. 2004). <u>See</u> App. 1, at 4. This Court has the requisite jurisdiction to resolve this express and direct conflict. <u>See</u> Article V, section 3(b)(4), Florida Constitution; Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure 9.030(a)(2)(A)(vi).

The Second District, like the Third District in <u>Kornfield</u>, had before it the application and interpretation of section 193.155(8)(a), Florida Statutes (2001). This statute was amended in 2001 by the Florida Legislature and the amendment was the Legislature's response to this Court's decision in <u>Smith v.</u> Welton, 729 So. 2d 371 (Fla. 1999).

In <u>Welton</u>, this Court had before it the question of whether a property appraiser could "retroactively" correct an error to the base year's assessment. This Court held that section 193.155(8)(a), Florida Statutes (1995), did not provide the authority for the property appraiser to make changes to the base year just value assessment, pursuant to its interpretation of the plain language of the statute. <u>Smith v. Welton</u>, 729 So. 2d, at 373. Specifically, this Court held that: The statute by its plain language refers to errors in the "annual assessment" (i.e., the value that is ascribed to a homestead each year after the "just value" has been determined in the base year), not errors in the base year "just value" assessment. Nowhere in section 193.155(8)(a) is the base year "just value" assessment even mentioned." Id.

In response to this interpretation and holding by the Court, the Legislature amended then section 193.155(8)(a), Florida Statutes (1995), in 2001 to state as follows:

Property receiving the homestead exemption after January 1, 1994, shall be assessed at just value as of January 1 of the year in which the property receives the exemption. Thereafter, determination of the assessed value of the property is subject to the following provisions:

\* \* \*

(8) Erroneous assessments of homestead property assessed under this section may be corrected in the following manner:

(a) If errors are made in arriving at any annual assessment under this section due to a material mistake of fact concerning an essential characteristic of the property, the just value and assessed value assessment must be recalculated for every such year, including the year in which the mistake occurred.

<u>See</u> Chapter 2001-137, section 5, p. 1128, 1130, Laws of Florida. This amendment became effective on July 1, 2001. <u>See</u> Chapter 2001-137, section 12, p. 1135, Laws of Florida.

As stated above, this amendment was the Legislature's response to <u>Smith v. Welton</u>. This is evident from the fact that the very language that this Court found missing from the

original 1995 statute applied in <u>Welton</u> was added to the 2001 amended version.

Both the Third District and the Second District have rendered opinions on the same version of a law - section 193.155(8)(a), Florida Statutes (2001). In <u>Kornfield</u> the Third District found that in 2001 the Legislature amended section 193.155(8)(a), to allow for adjustments to be made to correct errors in the calculation of a property's just value. <u>Kornfield</u>, 834 So. 2d at 957. However in <u>Krosschell</u> the Second District found that the 2001 amendment to section 193.155(8)(a), did not apply. See App. 3-4.

Both District Courts have reached opposite results in the application of the same law. Clearly this Court has the jurisdiction to decide which interpretation of section 193.155(8)(a), Florida Statutes (2001), is correct. While errors are not the rule of the day with the Property Appraisers, errors such as these do occur. This Court must decide the correct interpretation so the other Property Appraisers will know how to apply this law when errors do occur.

Under the plain language of section 193.155(8)(a), Florida Statutes, as amended in 2001, a property appraiser is statutorily required to correct erroneous assessments back to, and including, the just and assessed values rendered in the year in which the material mistake of fact occurred, regardless of whether that was the base year. As such, the Third District's decision in <u>Kornfield</u> is clearly in conflict with the Second District's decision below. <u>Compare</u>, <u>Kornfield</u>, 834 So. 2d, at 956-957, <u>with</u>, <u>Smith v. Krosschell</u>, No. 2D04-514, at 3-4 (Fla. 2<sup>nd</sup> DCA January 12, 2005)(App. 3-4).

Petitioners request that this Court accept jurisdiction of this case, resolve the conflict between the Districts, approve the Third District's decision in <u>Kornfield</u>, and disapprove the Second District's decision in Krosschell.

# II. THE LEGISLATURE ONLY PASSES MEANINGFUL LAWS; THE PLAIN LANGUAGE OF SECTION 193.155(8)(a), FLORIDA STATUTES (2001) MUST BE FOLLOWED

The question before this Court, as applied to section 193.155(8)(a), Florida Statutes (2001), is one of statutory construction. On March 10 ,2005, this Court issued its opinion in <u>Daniels v. Florida Department of Health</u>, \_\_\_\_\_ So. \_\_\_, 30 Fla. Law Weekly S143, (Fla. March 10, 2005). In that decision, this Court provided a complete restatement of the law on the position a court is in when addressing statutory construction. This Court stated:

In construing a statute we are to give effect to the Legislature's intent. See State v. J.M., 824 So. 2d

In attempting to discern 105, 109 (Fla. 2002). intent, we first look to legislative the actual language used in the statute. Joshua v. City of Gainesville, 768 So. 2d 432, 435 (Fla. 2000); accord BellSouth Telecomms., Inc. v. Meeks, 863 So. 2d 287, 289 (Fla. 2003). When the statute is clear and unambiquous, courts will not look behind the statute's plain language for legislative intent or resort to rules of statutory construction to ascertain intent. See Lee County Elec. Coop., Inc. v. Jacobs, 820 So. 2d 297, 303 (Fla. 2002). In such instance, the statute's plain and ordinary meaning must control, unless this leads to an unreasonable result or a result clearly contrary to legislative intent. See State v. Burris, 875 So. 2d 408, 410 (Fla. 2004). When the statutory language is clear, courts have no occasion to resort to rules of construction--they must read the statute as written, for to do otherwise would constitute an abrogation of legislative power. Nicoll v. Baker, 668 So. 2d 989, 990-91 (Fla. 1996). Because statutes providing for attorney's fees are in abrogation of the law, such statutes are to be strictly common construed.<sup>1</sup>/ See Sarkis v. Allstate Ins. Co., 863 So. 2d 210, 223 (Fla. 2003).

<u>Daniels v. Florida Department of Health</u>, 30 Fla. Law Weekly, at S143. <u>See also Patchen v. Florida Department of Agriculture and</u> <u>Consumer Services</u>, No. SC02-1291, at 6-7 (Fla. April 14, 2005), (this Court found that the compensation statute of the citrus cancer eradication program was a remedial statute and by its plain meaning was to provide compensation to homeowners who had trees destroyed on or after January 1, 1995). Applying this Court's standard to section 193.155(8)(a), Florida Statutes

<sup>1</sup>/ The same standard to be applied in construing

(2001), this Court should reverse the decision of the Second District below and adopt the decision of the Third District as the proper application section 193.155(8)(a).

The legislature is presumed not to pass meaningless legislation. <u>State v. Goode</u>, 830 So. 2d 817, 824 (Fla. 2002); <u>Smith v. Piezo Technology and Professional Administrators</u>, 427 So. 2d 182 (Fla. 1983). The courts are not to presume that a given statute employs "useless language." <u>Piper Aircraft</u> <u>Corporation v. Schwendmann</u>, 564 So. 2d 546, 547 (Fla. 3<sup>rd</sup> DCA 1990).

A change of language contained in an amendment to a statute often evinces a clarification of legislative intent or a change in the original intent of the statute. <u>Aetna Casulty and Surety</u> <u>Co. v. Buck</u>, 594 So. 2d 280, 283 (Fla. 1992). <u>See also Guadalupe</u> <u>v. Peterson</u>, 779 So. 2d 494, 497 (Fla. 2<sup>nd</sup> DCA 2000); <u>Equity</u> <u>Corporation Holdings, Inc., v. Department of Banking and Finance, Division of Finance</u>, 772 So. 2d 588, 589 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 2000). This is especially true where the Legislature has enacted an amendment shortly after a judicial decision the Legislature believed was contrary to its initial intent. <u>Palma</u> <u>Del Mar Condominium Association No. 5 of St Petersburg, Inc., v.</u>

exemption statutes, substantively and procedurally.

Commercial Laundries of West Florida, Inc., 586 So. 2d 315, 317 (Fla. 1991).

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