IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JIM SMITH, PROPERTY APPRAISER, PINELLAS COUNTY, FLORIDA, AND JAMES ZINGALE AS THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR OF THE DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE, STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioners,

vs.	Case No. SC05-488
STEPHEN KROSSCHELL,	
Respondent.	
	/

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS

Stephen Krosschell 2907 Cedar Trace Tarpon Springs, FL 34688 (727) 937-5329

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

Based on this long-standing presumption, Florida courts have repeatedly refused to apply tax statutes retroactively. In <u>State ex rel. Riverside Bank v. Green</u>, 101 So. 2d 805 (Fla. 1958), for example, cited by the Second District below, <u>Krosschell</u>, 892 So. 2d at 1146, this Court found that a newly enacted tax statute did not apply to periods prior to the effective date of the statute.

We have recognized the presumption that a legislative act operates prospectively unless the intent that it operate retrospectively is clearly expressed. . . .

There is positively nothing in the title of the statute under study to inform a reader it contained a provision that it would operate retrospectively, or in the body "clearly" stating that purpose except the date it would become effective. . . .

. . . If the uniformity of the taxing process is to be maintained to the convenience of taxpayers as well as tax gatherers and the rule is to be perpetuated, there can be only one logical conclusion and that is that the act should be operative prospectively.

Why the legislature did not choose language clearly stating that the act would put the added burden on the property during the year 1957 we will not undertake to surmise. We say only that the legislature did not and that not having done so, the tax could not attach before the later year.

... [T]he cardinal rule [is] that statutes imposing taxes must be clear and specific and will be "liberally construed in favor of the

taxpayer." . . . [S]uch statutes must be construed "strictly as against the state and in favor of the taxpayer."

... As we have pointed out, the purpose to make the act retroactive must be more than plausible—it must be clear. We cannot bend the rules of construction . . . [T]he act should have stated in unmistakable language that it was to apply in the tax year 1957.

<u>Id</u>. at 807-08 (citations omitted).

In State of Florida, Dep't of Revenue v. Zuckerman-Vernon Corp., 354 So. 2d 353 (Fla. 1977), also cited by the Second District below, Krosschell, 892 So. 2d at 1146, this Court did not apply a documentary stamp tax statute retroactively, because the effective date for the statute was after the year at issue. "It is a wellestablished rule of construction that in the absence of clear legislative intent to the contrary, a law is presumed to act prospectively. The 1977 Legislature's inclusion of an effective date of July 1, 1977, in Ch. 77-281 effectively rebuts any argument that retroactive application of the law was intended." Id. at 358 (citations omitted); accord In re Name Change Petition of Mullin, 892 So. 2d 914, ____ (Fla. 2d DCA 2005) (citation omitted) ("[T]he inclusion of an effective date in a statute by the legislature 'effectively rebuts any argument that retroactive application of the law was intended.""); Middlebrooks v. Department of State, Division of Licensing, 565 So. 2d 727 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990) (citing Zuckerman-Vernon Corp.). Here, the Legislature stated an effective date of July 1, 2001, for its amendment to section

193.155. Ch. 2001-137, § 12, Laws of Fla. As in Zuckerman-Vernon Corp., Mullin, and Middlebrooks, this effective date "effectively rebuts any argument that retroactive application of the law was intended."

Several other cases have reached the same conclusion that tax statutes cannot be applied retroactively. See Pate v. City of Fernandina Beach, 714 So. 2d 1070, 1073 (Fla. 1st DCA 1998) ("Since the present dispute has to do with tax rolls prepared before 1994, . . . no amendment that took effect after January 1, 1993, applies in the present case."); Florida Department of Revenue v. Liberty National Ins. Co., 667 So. 2d 445, 446 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996) ("The 1994 amendment would drastically alter tax liability for preceding years."); Hausman v. VTSI, Inc., 482 So. 2d 428, 430 (Fla. 5th DCA 1985) ("Tax statutes . . . operate only prospectively unless legislative intent to the contrary clearly appears."); Eli Witt Co. v. Department of Business Regulation, 388 So. 2d 1340, 1340 (Fla. 1st DCA 1980) ("The [tax] rule remained viable until the effective date of Chapter 77-421, which did not have retroactive application.").

For all of these reasons, the 2001 amendment to section 193.155 does not apply retroactively in this case. Under Welton II and the version of section 193.155 in effect in 2000, the Appraiser did not have statutory authority to change

the 2000 base year assessment for Respondent's Property. This Court should therefore affirm the lower tribunals' decisions on this point.

D. The Assessment Increases for Later Years for Respondent's Property Cannot Exceed 3% of the Assessed Value for the Prior Year.

The lower tribunal ruled for years 2001 and later that "assessments for later years shall be corrected and based on [the] year 2000 assessment [of \$188,700], in accordance with the law and the Florida Constitution." (R82) The lower tribunal thus ruled that, after the year 2000, increases in the annual assessments could not exceed 3% of the prior year's assessment, as provided in Article VII, Section 4(c), of the Florida Constitution, and section 193.155(1)(a), Fla. Stat. (1999). As explained in more detail in the next section of this Brief, once the base value of the Property was determined, Respondent had a vested right under Section 4(c) not to have the assessed value of his Property increased by more than 3% each year. Although section 193.155(8)(a), Fla. Stat. (2001), provides a mechanism for correcting erroneous annual assessments, neither the original nor the amended version of this statute can be applied to impair Respondent's vested constitutional right. See State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co. v. Laforet, 658 So. 2d 55, 61 (Fla. 1995) ("[T]his Court has refused to apply a statute retroactively if the statute impairs vested rights, creates new obligations, or imposes new penalties.").

In addition, the determination of the annual assessments for years 2001 and later was and is a simple mechanical calculation based on a percentage value of the prior year's assessment. § 193.155(1)(a), Fla. Stat. (2001). Neither party in this case contends that this mathematical determination for Respondent's Property will be erroneously calculated, once the base value is determined. As this Court decided in Welton II, an error in a base year assessment did not mean that the mathematically calculated annual assessments were erroneous and could be corrected under a statute allowing corrections only to annual assessments. 729 So. 2d at 373.

Both parties agree that the assessment error in this case occurred in 2000 for the base value determination. For the reasons previously stated, the 2001 amendment to section 193.155(8)(a) cannot be applied retroactively to correct this base value error. After the year 2000 base value determination is decided, annual assessments for later years only require the application of simple arithmetic, and neither side can contend that these assessments are erroneous and subject to correction under section 193.155(8)(a). Consequently, this Court should affirm the lower tribunal's decision for the years 2001 and later.

IV. THIS COURT SHOULD DECIDE WHETHER THE 2001 AMENDMENT IS CONSTITUTIONAL.

A. The Constitutional Question is Ripe for Review if This Court Decides that the Appraiser can Apply the 2001 Amendment Retroactively.

If this Court agrees with the Appraiser that he can apply the 2001 amendment retroactively, then the question whether the 2001 amendment to section 193.155 violates Article VII, Section 4(c), of the Florida Constitution is ripe for review in this Court. Section 193.155 is the legislature's implementation of the constitutional homestead protection in Section 4(c). Whether the 2001 amendment complies with this constitutional protection was briefed and argued in both the trial court and the Second District. This Court would fail to do complete justice in the case before it if it ruled that the 2001 amendment could be applied retroactively but did not address whether the 2001 amendment was constitutional.

B. Even if This Court Decides that the Appraiser Cannot Apply the 2001 Amendment Retroactively, This Court Should Decide Whether the Amendment is Constitutional, Because the Extent of the Government's Taxing Power is an Important Tax Question.

This Court should decide the constitutional issue even if it agrees with Respondent that Appraiser cannot apply the 2001 amendment retroactively. Respondent recognizes that courts often decline to address constitutional questions that can be resolved on other grounds. For several reasons, this Court should not

follow that practice here.

In the first place, whether the 2001 amendment is constitutional is an important tax question with substantial implications for the taxing authorities and for the taxes which Florida's citizens must pay. This Court ought to decide this important question and should do so sooner rather than later.

This [case] involves a construction of both the Constitution and the statute. Ordinarily the Court will avoid considering a constitutional question if the particular matter in litigation can be determined by a construction of the statute, but under the circumstances of this case the Court feels impelled to examine the constitutional question [because] ...it is a matter of great public importance that the extent of the taxing power of the state be settled and thoroughly understood by state officers and by taxpayers.

Green v. State ex rel. Phipps, 166 So. 2d 585, 587 (Fla. 1964). Green is directly on point and calls for this Court to resolve the constitutionality of the 2001 amendment at this time.

C. This Court Should Decide the Constitutional Question, because the Reasoning of the First District in Another Case Indicates that it would Find that the 2001 Amendment is Unconstitutional.

This Court should also resolve the constitutional question, because this Court has mandatory jurisdiction of decisions that declare a statute unconstitutional. Art. V, § 3(b)(1), Fla. Const. Here, as Respondent explains in more detail in Part V of this Brief, the reasoning of the First District's decision in

Smith v. Welton, 710 So. 2d 135, 137 (Fla. 1st DCA 1998) ("Welton I"), aff'd on other grounds, 729 So. 2d 371 (Fla. 1999), that the pre-2001 version of section 193.155 was unconstitutional applies equally to the 2001 amendment of this statute. This Court ought to decide whether a statute is constitutional when the reasoning of a district court in another case indicates that it would rule that the statute is invalid.

This Court's decision in <u>Sullivan v. Sapp</u>, 866 So. 2d 28 (Fla. 2004), is analogous. In <u>Sullivan</u>, this Court first decided the case on nonconstitutional grounds, but it nevertheless reached the constitutional question to resolve a conflict with another case, because this Court generally takes jurisdiction of conflict cases. By analogy in the present case, this Court should reach the constitutional question, because this Court has mandatory jurisdiction when a statute is declared unconstitutional, and the reasoning of the First District in another case renders the 2001 amendment unconstitutional.

We fully recognize that when a case may be resolved on grounds other than constitutional, the Court will ordinarily refrain from proceeding to decide the constitutional question. However, we also recognize the well-settled principle that "once an appellate court has jurisdiction it may, if it finds it necessary to do so, consider any item that may affect the case." When, as here, the constitutional conflict issue is the basis for our jurisdiction, disposition of the constitutional question will aid the lower courts, afford guidance, serve to resolve and eliminate a conflict between the district courts, and advance the

underlying policy of removing uncertainty for children and families, we find it necessary to consider the constitutional issue.

Sullivan, 866 So. 2d at 34-35 (citations omitted).

D. This Court Should Resolve the Constitutional Question to Provide Guidance to the Parties in Their Other Cases.

The present case involves the 2000 and 2001 assessments of Respondent's Property. The Appraiser has also continued improperly to use his correction to the 2000 assessment as the basis for later assessments of Respondent's Property. The Respondent and the Appraiser are therefore currently engaged in separate litigation in the trial court over the propriety of these later assessments. These later cases in the trial court either are or will be stayed, pending this Court's decision in the present case.

This Court should decide the constitutional question, to provide guidance to the trial court in these other cases.

Ordinarily, this Court will not reach constitutional issues if the case in which the question arises may be effectively disposed of on other grounds. However, it is foreseeable that in the instant cause the state will file an amended information. To aid in the disposition of any future proceedings below, we now consider the constitutionality of the statute vel non.

State v. Dye, 346 So. 2d 538, 541 (Fla. 1977) (citations omitted).

E. This Court Should Decide the Constitutional Question even if it is Moot, Because Courts Commonly Decide Moot Questions that are Important and Capable of Repetition or are Likely to Recur but Evade Review.

The principle that courts commonly will not decide constitutional questions if the case is susceptible to resolution on other grounds can be understood as an aspect of the mootness doctrine that courts generally will not decide moot questions. If a court has disposed of a case on other grounds, then the constitutional issue can be deemed moot. On the other hand, a countervailing principle is that this Court does decide moot questions if they are important and likely to recur or are capable of repetition yet evading review. "The mootness doctrine does not destroy our jurisdiction because the question before this Court is of great public importance and is likely to recur. Moreover, this Court elects to proceed because the problem that the instant action presents is capable of repetition yet evading review." State v. Matthews, 891 So. 2d 479, 483-484 (Fla. 2004).

In this instance, the constitutionality of the 2001 amendment is manifestly of great public importance and likely to recur. Property appraisers across the state will continue to use the 2001 amendment to correct initial base value assessments. Indeed, the Appraiser in this instance corrected the Respondent's 2000 assessment in defiance of this Court's decision in Welton II before the 2001 amendment even

existed. He certainly will continue to do so for other taxpayers, now that the 2001 amendment is in effect.

Moreover, the issue easily evades review. Few taxpayers will know that corrections of base value assessments are unconstitutional. The few taxpayers who have the requisite knowledge are unlikely to litigate the issue, because litigation will generally be economically unfeasible. Tax increases which result from corrections to base value assessments are typically relatively low in comparison to the enormous litigation costs, time, and effort necessary to challenge these corrections on constitutional grounds. In this instance, for example, Respondent has litigated a petition to the Value Adjustment Board, four separate lawsuits in the trial court, an appeal to the Second District, and the current proceeding in this Court. From a purely economic point of view, this litigation has not been costeffective because, if Respondent prevails, he will only save approximately \$2,000 per year, and he has already expended attorney time worth tens of thousands of dollars.

Any future litigant on this issue can reasonably expect to face the same daunting prospect of lengthy litigation reaching all the way to this Court. To prevail, future litigants must obtain a decision from a district court that the 2001 amendment is unconstitutional, and review of this decision will then be mandatory

in this Court. County governments have a substantial economic incentive to contest the issue, and property appraisers, who have well-staffed county attorneys' offices and the state Attorney General's office to assist them, will undoubtedly in every instance litigate the issue to the hilt. When faced with this intimidating necessity of protracted and expensive litigation with only relatively minimal economic benefit, the few litigants who know they have been wronged will choose not to pursue the matter. Consequently, pursuant to Matthews and numerous other cases, this Court should resolve the constitutional question at this time, even if it is moot as a result of this Court's decision on the retroactivity issue, because the issue is important and capable of repetition and yet evades review.

F. This Court should Decide the Constitutional Question, Because this Court has a Duty to Defend the Florida Constitution From Governmental Encroachment.

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